IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TODD ZOMMER,)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
VS.)	CASE NUMBER SC08-494
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 17, 2005, a grand jury in and for Osceola County Florida returned an indictment charging appellant with first degree premeditated murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (2004). (R 19-20) The state filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty on June 6, 2005. (R 32) Appellant filed numerous motions to declare the death penalty unconstitutional based on allegations that the aggravating factors are not set forth in the indictment, the shifting of the burdens of proof and persuasion for life, lack of appellate review, the failure to require an unanimous death recommendation or unanimous findings concerning aggravating factors, the aggravating factors are vague and overbroad, and the jury instructions are inadequate to provide

sufficient guidance for the jury. (R 74-152, 185-189, 190-192, 193-214, 215-218, 219-222, 248-251, 252-260, 261-262, 265-283, 292-296, 297-301, 302-310, 311-338, 339-345, 346-357, 358-368, 369-379) Following a hearing, the trial court denied these motions. (R 426-457)

On June 30, 2006, appellant filed a motion to suppress his statements on the ground that they were taken in violation of his exercise of his right to counsel. (R 410-419) Hearings on the motion to suppress were conducted on August 23, 2006 (Supp. Vol. IV, 62-260) and on January 26, 2007. (Supp. Vol. V 261-317) Subsequently, the trial court issued an order granting in part denying in part the motion to suppress. (R 481-497) Thereafter, appellant filed a second motion to suppress statements and evidence taken subsequent to the previously ruled inadmissible statements. (R 620-641) Following a hearing, the trial court granted the motion to suppress statements given to the detective, but denied the motion as to the physical evidence seized from the dumpsters. (R 644) Appellant proceeded to jury trial on December 3-10, 2007, with the Honorable John B. Morgan, circuit court judge, presiding. (Vols. XIX-XXXI) After the jury was selected, appellant entered guilty pleas to all cases and counts pending against him except for the first degree murder charge. (Vol. XXVI 881-905) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding

appellant guilty as charged for first degree premeditated murder. (Vol. XXXI 1444; R 1728)

Appellant proceeded to the penalty phase trial on December 17-19, 2007, with Judge Morgan again presiding. (Vols. XXXII-XXXVI) Upon deliberations, the jury returned an advisory sentence, by a vote of 10-2, that appellant be sentenced to death. (R 1795; Vol. XXXVI 1944)

Appellant appeared before Judge Morgan for sentencing on February 22, 2008. (Vol. XVIII 2197-2242) After discussing the aggravating factors and the mitigating factors, Judge Morgan adjudicated appellant guilty and sentenced him to death for the first degree murder conviction. (Vol. XVIII 2232; R 1859-1860) Judge Morgan filed a written finding of fact in support of the sentence. (R 1862-1876)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on March 3, 2008. (R 1887)

Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 1886)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Guilt Phase

Laura Schmid first met appellant through church in 1989. (Vol. XXVII, 947) In January, 2005, Schmid came home from work one night and found appellant standing on her lawn. (Vol. XXVII, 948) Appellant had walked from St. Cloud and his feet were bloody, so Schmid told appellant he could spend the night. (Vol. XXVII, 948) From January through April, 2005, appellant stayed with Schmid many nights. (Vol. XXVII 948) Because they were friends, Schmid was trying to help appellant out, but because she was anti-drug and anti-alcohol, she had strict rules that no one could use them in her house. (Vol. XXVII, 949-950) A man by the name of Roy Kelley was also staying at Schmid's house during this time. (Vol. XXVII, 950) Kelley owned a boat which he kept in Schmid's yard on a trailer. (Vol. XXVII, 950) In late February or early March, 2005, Kelley moved out but left the boat in Schmid's yard. (Vol. XXVII, 950) A couple of weeks after Kelley moved, Schmid noticed that the boat was gone. (Vol. XXVII, 951) Schmid's good friend, Corrine Robinson, who lived across the street from Schmid, spoke with Schmid about Kelley's boat. (Vol. XXVII, 951-952) Robinson saw someone taking it and thought that it might be Kelley and his brother, but was not sure because

she could not see well. (Vol. XXVII, 953) Schmid told appellant about the conversation with Robinson, but appellant never said anything about it. (Vol. XXVII, 953) Schmid had always allowed appellant to drive her vehicles including her Saturn and her pickup truck. (Vol. XXVII, 955)

James Vella and his mother Joanne, met appellant, on April 7, 2005, when they stayed in appellant's motel room while they looked for a place to live. (Vol. XXVIII, 1032-1033, 1060) At that time, appellant was driving a red Mazda pickup, an L-200 Saturn, and a red Mercury Tracer. (Vol. XXVIII, 1034) During the five days that the Vellas hung out with appellant, they were all using crack cocaine. (Vol. XXVIII, 1034, 1060) On Saturday, April 9, 2005, the Vellas saw appellant several times in order to get high with him. (Vol. XXVIII, 1036) Appellant borrowed James' father's white Nike sneakers and James never saw them again. (Vol. XXVIII, 1035) On April 11, 2005, appellant helped the Vellas move to the Knights Inn. (Vol. XXVIII, 1036) Appellant had a conversation with the Vellas wherein he told them about a boat he had stolen and a neighbor that had seen him take it. (Vol. XXVIII, 1037) Appellant told the Vellas that he had gone to the neighbor's house to borrow some money and, while she was pointing out some trinkets to him, appellant beat her over the head with a mandolin and then hit her over the head with a

ceramic lamp. (Vol. XXVIII, 1037, 1063) Because the victim was not dead, appellant told the Vellas he got a knife and tried to cut her throat, first with his left hand and then with his right hand. (Vol. XXVIII, 1037, 1063) James claimed that appellant was telling him about this because James and appellant had recently committed a robbery and appellant told James if James ever told anyone that he would end up like the victim. (Vol. XXVIII, 1039) However, Joanne Vella testified that appellant told them about the murder before he and her son committed the robbery. (Vol. XXVIII, 1070) After appellant told the Vellas about the killing, he left the motel in the red Mercury and the Vellas then packed their bags, got into the Mazda pickup truck and drove towards Poinciana. (Vol. XXVIII, 1039) About two miles down the road, the police pulled over the Vellas and ultimately they were charged with robbery and accessory after a robbery. (Vol. XXVIII, 1040, 1064) Both of the Vellas got plea agreements based on their willingness to testify against appellant. (Vol. XXVIII, 1042, 1064) During the entire five days that the Vellas knew appellant, they were using crack cocaine and spending \$50.00-100.00 a day on the drugs. (Vol. XXVIII, 1043, 1067) During the five days, appellant would leave the Vellas when they ran out of drugs and when he returned he always brought more drugs with him. (Vol. XXVIII, 1045)

On Saturday, April 9, 2005, Laura Schmid was at work and talked to appellant and asked him to come down to her job site and meet her. (Vol. XXVII, 955) Appellant told Schmid that he could make it to their house but he did not have enough gas to get to her job and he did not have any money. (Vol. XXVII, 956) Schmid told appellant that she would call her neighbor Corrine to see if she had any money she could lend appellant. (Vol. XXVII, 956) Schmid called Corrine and she agreed to lend appellant \$20.00 which Schmid would then pay back the next day. (Vol. XXVII, 956) Schmid called appellant and told him that he could go to Corrine's house and she would give him \$20.00 for gas. (Vol. XXVII, 956) Appellant eventually came to Schmid's job at about 11:30 p.m. and did not say whether he had gone to Corrine to get the money. (Vol. XXVII, 957) Appellant was going to meet Schmid but he never showed up. (Vol. XXVII, 959-960) Schmid went home around 12:30 a.m., took a shower and noticed a crack pipe lying on her coffee table, which caused her to become quite upset. (Vol. XXVII, 960) The following morning, Schmid went to church and when she returned she got ready to go to Corrine's house to repay the money, but noticed that Corrine's car was gone. (Vol. XXVII, 960) Schmid then went to lunch, did some laundry and returned about 3:00 p.m., and noticed that Corrine's car was still missing. (Vol. XXVII, 961) Because her own cars

were also missing, Schmid called the sheriff's office between 4:00-5:00 p.m. and reported them. (Vol. XXVII, 961) The following day, Monday, Schmid still noticed that Corrine's car was gone and tried calling Corrine but got no answer. (Vol. XXVII, 961) Schmid knew that Corrine taught swimming so she called the place where she taught and left a message for Corrine to call her when she got to work, but Corrine never did. (Vol. XXVII, 962) Corrine's employer called Schmid and told her that Corrine failed to show up so Schmid called the police, they came out and she told them her concerns about Corrine, about appellant, and her missing cars. (Vol. XXVII, 962) While Deputy Butler was present, Schmid called appellant and handed the phone directly to him. (Vol. XXVII, 963) Deputy Butler told appellant that he had one hour to bring the vehicles back or Schmid was going to report them stolen and he would be the prime suspect. (Vol. XXVII, 930) Appellant said he was going to bring them back and Deputy Butler stayed at Schmid's home for an hour, but appellant never brought the cars back. (Vol. XXVII, 930) When appellant failed to return the cars, Schmid called the sheriff's department the next morning and Deputy Butler arrived at her place at approximately 6:10 a.m. (Vol. XXVII, 932, 964) Deputy Butler borrowed a ladder from a neighbor and attempted to look into Corrine's house. (Vol. XXVII, 933) Butler saw some

broken glass and some dark colored staining near the front door, so he immediately called for assistance. (Vol. XXVII, 933) The deputies made a forced entrance through the back door and when they entered they saw the body of Corrine Robinson lying face down in the hallway. (Vol. XXVII, 934, 945) The body was in a state of decay and there were dark colored stains throughout the house. (Vol. XXVII, 934, 945) Deputy Butler immediately issued a BOLO for Corrine's car which was a red Mercury Tracer. (Vol. XXVII, 939-940) Among the evidence collected in the home were pieces of broken wooden musical instrument and glass fragments from a hurricane lamp. (Vol. XXVII, 980) Laura Schmid gave the officers a pair of white pro-keds tennis shoes from her closet. (Vol. XXVII, 973) A small reddish area on the inside heel of the shoes tested positive for blood. (Vol. XXVII, 988) A serrated bread knife was seized and tested positive for blood stains. (Vol. XXVII, 991) The shirt worn by the victim was taken into evidence because it had a shoe tread on the back of it in a reddish substance. (Vol. XXVII, 994)

Christine Santiago worked at the Exxon Mobil Gas Station on the corner of John Young Parkway and Carroll Street. (Vol. XXVIII, 1073) When she came to work on April 10th at 7:00 a.m. she observed a Mercury Tracer parked in the parking area with its windows open and unlocked. (Vol. XXVIII, 1074)

Two days later on April 12, 2005, Officer Gary Johndro of the Kissimmee Police Department was on patrol when he received a BOLO concerning a Mercury Tracer. (Vol. XXIII, 1076-1077) Johndro observed a vehicle and followed it into the Bermuda Palm apartment complex. (Vol. XXVIII, 1078) Johndro confirmed that the vehicle was stolen and alerted law enforcement officers who responded. (Vol. XXVIII, 1079-1081) Three Kissimmee police department vehicles responded and followed the Tracer as it traveled south on John Young Parkway towards Columbia Avenue. (Vol. XXVIII, 1081, 1088, 1109) The vehicle got in the turning lane and turned left onto Columbia at which time the police officers activated their lights and sirens in an attempt to stop the vehicle. (Vol. XXVIII, 1081, 1090, 1109) The vehicle made an aggressive and evasive left turn into Victoria Park apartments and once in the complex made another evasive aggressive left turn and exited the complex although not through the designated exit. (Vol. XXVIII, 1090, 1082, 1111) When the vehicle accelerated, the Tracer went airborne with all wheels off the pavement and came down on Columbia Avenue and crashed into a ditch. (Vol. XXVIII, 1090, 1084, 1111) The driver identified as appellant, exited the vehicle, and jumped the fence into the Columbia Arms apartments, with the officers chasing him. (Vol. XXVIII, 1113-1114, 1085, 1092) Appellant was

ultimately stopped, arrested, and taken to a hospital. (Vol. XXVIII, 1101) A crack pipe was recovered from appellant. (Vol. XXVIII, 1097) Appellant admitted that he had been using crystal meth and crack cocaine and said he had done approximately ten thousand dollars worth of drugs in the past week. (Vol. XXVIII, 1086, 1103) A search of a dumpster at the Citco Station on the corner of John Young Parkway and Carroll Street revealed a Walmart bag containing a pair of Nike shoes and socks which were collected as evidence. (Vol. XXVIII, 1121) A comparison of the Nike tennis shoes to the footprint found on the shirt worn by the victim revealed that they were the same type of design. (Vol. XXX, 1226)

Sara Irrgang, a pathologist and associate medical examiner for the ninth circuit, conducted an autopsy of Lois Corrine Robinson on February 13, 2005. (Vol. XXIV, 1154-1156) Robinson was a 77 year old woman who was five foot four inches tall and weighed 152 pounds. (Vol. XXIV, 1157) The cause of death was a large incised wound to the neck with massive hemorrhaging. (Vol. XXIV, 1157) When Irrgang first examined Robinson, she had been dead for several days and was in a state of decomposition. (Vol. XXIV, 1157) There were at least two incisions on her neck which were made by a very sharp instrument. (Vol. XXIV, 1160) Robinson had head contusions behind the left

ear and on her face. (Vol. XXIV, 1161) One of the cuts on her neck began beneath one ear and continued across to beneath the other ear, severing the carotid artery and jugular vein. (Vol. XXIV, 1161) Dr. Irrgang believed that a lot of force was necessary to cut the throat through the cartilage down to the cervical spine. (Vol. XXIV, 1163) There were many blows to the head of Robinson which would not have immediately caused her to become unconscious. (Vol. XXIV, 1169-1170) However, the blows probably would have stunned her although she remained conscious. (Vol. XXIV, 1170) The neck wounds would have rendered Robinson unconscious very shortly, due to the loss of blood, making any kind of struggle unlikely. (Vol. XXIV, 1170) The head injuries were inflicted before the neck wounds and probably would have taken several minutes. (Vol. XXIV, 1171) Dr. Irrgang admitted that she could not tell for sure what happened, but did note that after Robinson's throat was cut, death occurred very shortly thereafter. (Vol. XXIV, 1177) The footprint on her back could have been made post-death. (Vol. XXIV, 1177) On cross examination, Dr. Irrgang did note that the blows to the head were administered first and could have rendered her unconscious but definitely stunned her. (Vol. XXIV, 1179)

Deputy Michael Fenton was assigned to the courtroom during the trial.

(Vol. XXIV, 1204) After a pretrial, Fenton testified that appellant told him that he had always owned up to his responsibilities and could not believe the system was making him and the victim's family go through this. (Vol. XXIV, 1205)

Appellant just wanted to give his side of the story. (Vol. XXIV, 1205)

Appellant was stressed and angry that Detective Colombrite had lied. (Vol. XXIV, 1205-1206)

Matthew Druckenmiller, a convicted felon, has known appellant for ten years. (Vol. XXX, 1233-1235) In April, 2005, Druckenmiller was hanging out with appellant and doing marijuana and crystal meth with him. (Vol. XXX, 1235) After appellant was arrested for the murder, he spoke to Druckenmiller about the events. (Vol. XXX, 1235) Appellant told him that the victim was aware that appellant had stolen a boat from the neighbor. (Vol. XXX, 1236) Appellant went over to the victim's house and she took him inside and began showing him some dolls that she had collected. (Vol. XXX, 1236) Appellant told Druckenmiller that he just lost it and hit the victim with the guitar and she fell over. (Vol. XXX, 1236) Appellant kicked the victim and said he knocked her teeth out and then tried to strangle her with the computer mouse cord but it was hard to choke someone when their fingers were in the way. (Vol. XXX, 1236-1237) Appellant then went to the kitchen, got a knife, and he cut through

one side of her neck to the other. (Vol. XXX, 1237) Appellant then said he heard a hissing sound and the victim was dead. (Vol. XXX, 1237) Appellant told Druckenmiller that he felt he had an out- of-body experience and when it first happened appellant claimed it was the best feeling he ever had, although Druckenmiller does not think appellant feels that way anymore. (Vol. XXX, 1238)

Dain Weister, a news reporter for WFTV in Orlando, contacted appellant to get an interview and appellant agreed. (Vol. XXX, 1257-1258) The interview was not done at the request of any law enforcement officer. (Vol. XXX, 1258) During the interview appellant admitted that he was not innocent and that he just wanted to get everything over with. (Vol. XXX, 1260) Appellant stated that he killed the victim because she did not mind her own business. (Vol. XXX, 1260) According to appellant he just hit a breaking point and the victim happened to be there but that her age and sex were not a factor. (Vol. XXX, 1260) According to appellant, the victim saw appellant steal something and when appellant met her he felt there was recognition on her part. (Vol. XXX, 1261) According to appellant, he beat the victim, stepped on her, jumped on her, kicked her, and then cut her throat using a knife. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant first beat the victim with a wooden instrument, which caused it

to shatter and then beat her with a lamp which also broke. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant then kicked the victim until she was knocked out after which he went into the kitchen to get a knife. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant then straddled the victim, lifted her head up, and sliced her throat, which caused her to die. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant then went home, took off all of his clothes and put them in a bag and then went back to the victim's house and drove her car down the street. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant then went back to the victim's house and made the scene look like a robbery. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant threw his shoes and socks away. (Vol. XXX, 1262) Appellant told Weister that he just wanted to get it all over with, because it was terrible in jail and he wasn't getting any help. (Vol. XXX, 1263) Appellant knew he needed help and tried to call a friend before this happened, but never got any answer and never had anyone call him back. (Vol. XXX, 1263, 1265-1266) According to appellant, he did not really care about the victim but killed her because something inside him snapped. (Vol. XXX, 1264-1265) Although appellant claimed the drugs had nothing to do with this event, he admitted that he was high when he went to bed the night before and had done drugs all week. (Vol. XXX, 1266-1269) Following the killing, appellant returned to doing drugs until he was arrested. (Vol. XXX, 1266)

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