#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TODD ZOMMER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-494 L.T. No. 2005-CF-1200 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OSCEOLA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

despite the existence of mental mitigation. <u>Barnhill</u>, 834 So. 2d at 851.

Appellant attempts to argue against the finding of CCP because he claims there is no evidence of when he formed the intent to kill Ms. Robinson, because there was a lack of a careful or prearranged design, and because he did not return to her home with any weapons. Initial Brief of Appellant at 40-41. To the contrary, the facts demonstrate that he formed his intent to kill Ms. Robinson when he realized she recognized him as the boat thief. Even if Appellant's plan was not formed until after he came back to Ms. Robinson's home, CCP was properly found because Appellant's actions outlined above demonstrate sufficient reflection at the scene to support this factor. Knight v. State, 746 So. 2d 423, 436 (Fla. 1998) ("Even if Knight did not make the final decision to execute the two victims until sometime during his lengthy journey to his final destination, that journey provided an abundance of time for Knight to coldly and calmly decide to kill"). Appellant's attempt to negate the calculated method by which Appellant murdered Ms. Robinson by arguing lack of design is likewise refuted by the record. Appellant shopped Ms. Robinson's home for his choice of weapons, using each in a ruthless fashion to effectuate her death and changing his mode until he found the most deadly weapon. Moreover, this Court has held CCP may be found where a defendant did not bring his own weapon but procured one at the scene. <u>Buzia v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1215-16 (Fla. 2006).

In sum, the trial judge's factual findings are supported by the evidence, and the correct standard of law was applied, compelling affirmance of the use of this aggravator. below did not err in finding and weighing the CCP aggravating factor. Furthermore, any possible error would be harmless in this case, given the other strong aggravating factors present and the lack of any significant mitigation. See Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 104-05 (Fla. 1996) (concluding there was no reasonable likelihood of a lesser sentence after this Court struck CCP, leaving aggravating factors of heinous, atrocious and cruel and committed during course of burglary; mitigation of 22 years old, love for family, unloving mother, and bipolar manic personality); Holton v. State, 573 So. 2d 284, 293 (Fla. 1990) (erroneous finding of CCP was harmless in light of three other valid aggravating factors, mitigation of drug addiction and father of two children). For these reasons, Appellant is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

### ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPLERLY FOUND THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A MANNER THAT WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL.

Appellant next challenges the applicability of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor. Again, this Court must review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for the aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding.

Willacy, 696 So. 2d at 695-96. Such a review in this case confirms the propriety of the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravating factor.

The trial court stated the following to support this aggravator:

In order for a killing to be one that especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, it must be one that evinces extreme and outrageous depravity exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another. Cheshire v. State, 568 (Fla. 1990). The killing must be both 908 conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous to the victim. Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107 1992). In determining whether a killing is committed in a heinous, atrocious or cruel manner, the is the victim's perceptions of circumstances rather than the defendant's. Lynch v. State, 841 So.2d 362 (Fla. 2003); Guzman v. State, 721 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1998).

The testimony in this case establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that there was a <u>prolonged</u>, <u>pitiless</u> attack upon Ms. Robinson, and that she was conscious during at least most of the attack up until the time

defendant slit her throat. The medical examiner, Dr. Irrgang, testified that Ms. Robinson would have been conscious when the defendant was hitting her in the head, as she had wounds on both sides of her head that indicated movement of her head during the attack. She testified that it was likely that Ms. Robinson struggled with her attacker.

The defendant testified at trial that it took a "period of time" for him to kill Ms. Robinson and that "the time frame isn't as short as people are...are making it seem. It - it was a distance in between...". testified that he hit her with the instrument until it broke into pieces and that he then hit her with the hurricane lamp, after which seemed knocked out. He left the room, obtained the computer mouse cord, returned and attempted strangle Ms. Robinson with the mouse cord, but was unsuccessful.

While the defendant testified at trial that he was unsuccessful in strangling Ms. Robinson with the cord because his hands slipped off the cord, he told Matthew Druckenmiller that the victim was able to get her fingers under the cord around her neck and that he couldn't strangle her because he was prevented by her resistance.

After failing to kill Ms. Robinson by strangulation, the defendant again left the room and went to the bathroom where he urinated. Upon returning to the living room, the defendant testified that Ms. Robinson was moving around and moaning. The defendant then got on top a chair and stepped on her head and kicked her in the face. Then he testified she was "flopping around" and "every time I kicked her, she'd moved to one spot and I'd kick her and I'd get in the other - I think I kicked her twice."

It was then that the defendant went to the kitchen, and got himself something to drink out of Ms. Robinson's refrigerator. While in the kitchen, the defendant saw a block of knives in the [sic] and decided to get a knife and return to continue his attack on Ms. Robinson. Upon returning once more to

the living room, the defendant straddled Ms. Robinson's prostrate body, lifted her head by her hair and sliced her throat several times, causing her almost immediate death.

While slitting the throat of a conscious victim has been held to be heinous, atrocious or cruel, it is unclear from the evidence in this case that Ms. Robinson was, in fact, conscious at the time her throat was slit. Dr. Irrgang, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy on Ms. Robinson, was unable to testify with certainty that was the case, although she testified it was certainly possible.

Nonetheless, the evidence clearly establishes that the victim was conscious during most of the prolonged attack. The court finds from the evidence that the killing of Ms. Robinson was indeed conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous. It is certain that Ms. Robinson was conscious and feeling pain during the brutal beating by the defendant who was verbally taunting her during the attack. The prolonged, brutal beating of Ms. Robinson, standing alone is sufficient to make this murder heinous, atrocious and cruel.

In addition, however, Ms. Robinson would have felt a foreknowledge of impending death as she was being strangled by the mouse cord. If the attempted strangulation caused her to lose consciousness, her last thoughts would have been the anxiety and fear of struggling to breath and being unable to overcome the defendant's attempt to strangle her. Ιf strangulation attempt did not cause Ms. Robinson to lose consciousness, her last perceptions would have been of having her head pulled up by her hair and the knife being brought up to her throat by the defendant he effected her death. Either possible circumstance would be one that would cause extreme anxiety and fear with foreknowledge of death.

The state has proved this aggravating circumstance beyond any reasonable doubt and the court gives it great weight.

(V13:1866-68) (emphasis added).

In order to establish the HAC aggravating factor, the State must prove that the murder was conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous to the victim. Francis v. State, 808 So. 2d 110, 134 (Fla. 2001). These factors are expressly applied and reflected in the court's findings outlined above, and therefore the correct law was applied below.

Appellant alleges that this factor was erroneously applied because 1) he did not intend to inflict pain or otherwise torture; 2) he speculates that Ms. Robinson may have been unconscious for much of the attack; and 3) he speculates that Ms. Robinson's death did not take a prolonged period of time. Initial Brief of Appellant at 47-51. However, Appellant's arguments are legally incorrect and refuted by the court's findings and record.

As to Appellant's claim that there was no "intent" to torture, the facts of this case demonstrate otherwise. In addition, this Court has repeatedly recognized that intent is not a necessary element of this aggravating factor. Ocha v. State, 826 So. 2d 956, 963-64 (Fla. 2002); Francis, 808 So. 2d at 135; Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1160 (Fla. 1998). Prior cases routinely acknowledge that HAC is consistently applied where the victim suffers prolonged torture, as here, without any specific discussion as to the defendant's mental

This is because where facts demonstrate that a condition. victim suffered a great deal, the reasonable inference is that the defendant either intended or was indifferent to suffering. See Bogle v. State, 655 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1995) (rejecting claim that HAC could not be upheld because nothing in the case established that defendant intended to cause the victim unnecessary suffering). Accordingly, a defendant's state of mind is not a dispositive fact that must be determined and weighed every time that HAC is considered. Rather, the relevant facts are typically those showing the manner in which the homicide occurred. Nevertheless, the facts in the instant case clearly show an utter indifference to the suffering of The evidence presented below, and outlined in the court's findings on this factor, clearly demonstrate that "the defendant acted with complete indifference to the victim's suffering." Bogle, 655 So. 2d at 1109.

Appellant hit Ms. Robinson in the head first with the ukelin, and when she questioned "Oh, my god what was that?", Appellant told her it was her ceiling and hit her again as she was looking up. (V30:1308). Appellant hit her multiple times with the ukelin until it shattered. (V28:1037-38; V30:1330-33). Appellant told Matthew Druckenmiller Ms. Robinson fought with him after she was hit with the ukelin. (V30:1236). Appellant then hit Ms. Robinson with a glass lamp. (V30:1308-10). After

leaving the room, Appellant went and found a computer mouse cord, and attempted to strangle her to death with the cord, but was unsuccessful. (V30:1310-11). Appellant told Druckenmiller that he was unsuccessful because she had her fingers in the way was fighting him. (V30:1236-38). While Appellant subsequently denied a struggle and testified that his fingers slipped off the cord, the medical examiner testified that there were defensive wounds on the back of each of Ms. Robinson's hands, thereby refuting Appellant's testimony. (V32:1468-69, After the unsuccessful strangulation, Appellant went into the victim's bathroom and urinated. (V30:1312-13). Upon returning, Appellant acknowledged Ms. Robinson was moaning and (V30:1313). At this time, Appellant testified he moving. jumped on Ms. Robinson's head and kicked her in the face. Appellant described her as "flopping around" and said when he kicked her she would move to one spot and "I'd kick her in the other". (V30:1313). Appellant then went and drank tea from Ms Robinson's refrigerator, found an appropriate knife for her murder and returned to straddle her "like a cowboy," lifting her head and slicing her throat several times to the bone killing her. (V28:1037-38; V30:1237, 1313-16, 1355-57). There is no question of Ms. Robinson's suffering, no question of her fear as she was hit, jumped on, kicked and strangled, and certainly no question Appellant acted with complete indifference to her suffering.

Appellant's speculation about the victim's far as alleged lack of consciousness, the evidence showed only that unconsciousness could not have come quickly enough for Ms. Robinson. As outlined by the court below and highlighted above, the evidence clearly established that Ms. Robinson was conscious and suffering through much of her ordeal. The medical examiner, Sara Irrgang, testified that as long as Ms. Robinson struggled, she would have remained conscious. (V32:1470, 1472). Further, Dr. Irrgang testified that during the time Ms. Robinson was beaten and strangled, she would have been experiencing pain. (V32:1468, 1469-70). Based upon the injuries Ms. Robinson witnesses' testimonies, and sustained, the State's Appellant's own testimony, Dr. Irrgang opined it was evident that Ms. Robinson was conscious and struggling during her attack. (V32:1468-69). Defensive wounds were found on the back of each of her hands. (V32:1468-69, 1472). Dr. believed the attack would have had to have taken place over a period of time, as time was needed to inflict the multiple injuries and because the victim's injuries indicated she was not in the same location throughout the incident. (V32:1468).

In <u>Guzman</u>, this Court affirmed the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor where the defensive wounds and blood

trail indicated that the victim was aware of what was happening to him and would have felt pain as a result of the large number of injuries he sustained. Although Appellant asserts that Ms. Robinson may not have been conscious for much of the attack, nothing in Guzman suggests that a victim must be conscious for a "significant portion of the attack." To the contrary, this Court in Guzman only found that the victim was conscious during "at least part of the attack." Guzman, 721 So. 2d at 1160. Given the description of the murder in this case and the medical examiner's testimony regarding the victim's consciousness and pain, it is apparent that the victim in this case suffered horribly and that the HAC aggravator should be affirmed.

As far as Appellant's speculation that this attack was not prolonged, HAC does not rest upon the length of time of the attack but whether the murder was conscienceless or pitiless and unnecessarily tortuous. <u>Francis</u>, 808 So. 2d at 134. As outlined above, this murder was of this character. Further, even Appellant recognized that the murder took time and the time frame was not as short as people were making it seem. (V13:1867). Dr. Irrgang also testified the attack would have had to have taken place over a period of time, as time was needed to inflict Ms. Robinson's multiple injuries. (V32:1468).

The finding of HAC in this case is consistent with a number of other decisions from this Court on the applicability of that

factor. See Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001) (noting HAC aggravator pertains more to victim's perception of the circumstances than to the perpetrator's); Hannon v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994) (beating and stabbing of a screaming victim); Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1993), (victim beaten prior to or during the stabbing); Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331, 338 (Fla. 1990) (victim repeatedly hit, kicked, strangled, and knifed); Lamb v. State, 532 So. 2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 1988) (defensive wounds, head struck six times, victim moaning and kicked in face). Accordingly, the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravator should be affirmed.

Even if this Court were to find that competent substantial evidence does not support the trial court's finding of HAC, any error would be harmless. The trial court found three other aggravators: CCP, prior violent felony conviction, and murder committed to avoid arrest. No statutory mitigation was found. Any error in finding HAC cannot be said to have affected Appellant's death sentence. As such, any error would be harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

### ISSUE III

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE LAW WHEN ADDRESSING AND REJECTING APPELLANT'S MITIGATING EVIDENCE.

Appellant asserts in his third issue that the trial judge misinterpreted the testimony from the mental health experts during the penalty phase and consequently misapplied the applicable law in rejecting the two statutory mental mitigating factors. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the record contains competent substantial evidence to support the trial court's rejection of these two statutory mitigators.

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